# SUPREME COURT COPY

#### **SUPREME COURT CASE NO. S180181**

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	
Plaintiff and Respondent,	) Court of Appeal No. ) E046742
v.  MELISSA KAY MURPHY,  Defendant and Petitioner.	Superior Court No.  SUPREME COURT  FILED  JUN 2 8 2010
On Appeal from the Superior Cour County of San Bernadio The Honorable Bryan F. Foster, Ju	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
OPENING BRIEF ON THE	MERITS
HELEI HELEI 3525A San Di	OFFICES OF N SIMKINS IRZA N S. IRZA (SBN 190680) Del Mar Heights Rd. #216 ego, CA 92130 one: (858) 366-2680
Meliss	ey for Petitioner a Kay Murphy cointment of the Supreme

Court under the Appellate

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Pursuant to the Court's order dated April 22, 2010, the issue to be briefed and argued is as follows:

Was defendant's conviction under Penal Code section 115 preempted by Vehicle Code sections 20 and 10501, subdivision (a)?

#### STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

This appeal is from a final judgment following a trial and is authorized by Penal Code<sup>1</sup> section 1237, subdivision (a).

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Melissa Murphy, was charged in count 1 with filing a false instrument in a public office in California, a violation of section 115 and a felony. (1CT 12-13; § 115.) Two more recently enacted statutes — Vehicle Code section 10501 and Vehicle Code section 20 — define and address the more specific offenses of (1) filing a false report of vehicle theft with a California law enforcement agency, and (2) filing a false document with the California Highway Patrol. (Veh.Code, §§ 20, 10501.) Both of the more specific offenses are punishable as misdemeanors. (Veh.Code, §§ 40000.5, 40000.9.) As a consequence, under the *Williamson*<sup>2</sup> preemption doctrine, petitioner was improperly charged with violating section 115. Judgment against her on count 1 must be reversed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references to statutes shall be to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In re Williamson (1954) 43 Cal.2d 651, 654.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged with three counts in a felony complaint filed on January 24, 2008. (1CT 1.) The first count was for offering a false instrument for filing in a public office in violation of section 115, subdivision (a), a felony. The second count was for felony insurance fraud perpetrated by knowingly presenting a false or fraudulent claim for payment for the loss of a motor vehicle in violation of section 550, subdivision (a)(4). The third count was for felony insurance fraud perpetrated by presenting a written or oral statement in support of a claim under an insurance policy knowing that the statement contained false and misleading information concerning a material fact in violation of section 550, subdivision (b)(1). (1CT 12-14.)

The case was tried to a jury starting August 18, 2008. (1RT 1; 1CT 71.) After the conclusion of trial, on August 22, 2008, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all three counts. (1CT 134-136; 141-142.)

Petitioner was sentenced to three years' probation and 180 days in the county jail. (1CT 159-161.) She filed timely notice of appeal on September 25, 2008. (1CT 162.)

Petitioner argued on appeal that she was improperly charged with violating section 115, because, under the *Williamson* preemption doctrine, Vehicle Code sections 20 and 10501 preempt section 115 where a defendant is charged with filing a false stolen vehicle report with any law enforcement agency or charged with filing a document containing false statements with the California Highway Patrol or Department of Motor

Vehicles. (AOB 1, 8-13.) Petitioner argued that the *Williamson* preemption doctrine applies where each element of a general criminal statute corresponds to an element of a more specific criminal statute, or when a violation of a more specific statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of a general statute. (AOB 10.)

The Court of Appeal denied petitioner's appeal in an opinion filed on December 28, 2009. (Opinion at p. 1.) The Court of Appeal held that the *Williamson* preemption doctrine does not apply with respect to Vehicle Code section 20 because the elements in Vehicle Code section 20 do not "correspond" to the elements in section 115 in several respects:

First, Penal Code section 115 is primarily concerned with the filing of a false or fraudulent *instrument*. On the other hand, Vehicle Code section 20 chiefly deals with the making of false *statements* that are included in a document. ...

Second, regarding the concealment of facts, Vehicle Code section 20 requires that the omitted or obfuscated subject matter be material, whereas Penal Code section 115 has no corresponding materiality requirement. ...

Third, Penal Code section 115 requires that the instrument be "procured" or "offered" for filing with knowledge of its falsity.... [Citation.] However, Vehicle Code section 20 requires that the document containing the false statement be "filed."

Fourth and finally, Penal Code section 115 requires that the instrument be submitted for filing with any public office, but Vehicle Code section specifically delineates that the document must be filed with the DMV or CHP.

(Opinion at p. 10.)

The Court of Appeal further found that that a violation of Vehicle Code section 20 will not necessarily or commonly result in a violation of section 115:

Penal Code section 115 requires that the instrument itself be false or forged, not merely that it contain false or fictitious information. Thus, a prosecution under Vehicle Code section 20 will most commonly involve fictitious or false information included on a nonetheless valid document.

(Opinion at p. 11.)

The Court of Appeal also found that the elements in Vehicle Code section 10501 do not "correspond" to the elements in section 115:

Vehicle Code section 10501's lack of a "requirement that the false report, if genuine, could have been legally filed" provides a legally decisive distinction reflecting the Legislature's intent, pursuant to Penal Code section 115, to protect recordation of documents in public institutions and the public's reliance upon them, a concern not apparent in Vehicle Code section 10501.

Additionally, ... Penal Code section 115's prohibition on knowingly procuring or offering false instruments to be filed is legally distinct from Vehicle Code section 10501's prohibition on making false statements or actually filing a false report of vehicle theft.

Moreover, unlike Vehicle Code section 10501, Penal Code section 115 "Does not require that the act must be done with the intent to defraud another, nor is there any provision therein requiring that anyone be defrauded thereby.... The crime of violating section 115 of the Penal Code is sufficiently proven when it is shown that the accused intentionally committed the forbidden act." [Citation.]

(Opinion at p. 12-13.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal found that that a violation of Vehicle Code section 10501 will not necessarily or commonly result in a violation of section 115:

[A] violation of Penal Code section 10501 will not necessarily, or even commonly, result in a violation of Penal Code section 115 because the former is concerned with the filing of the false or fraudulent report by the reporter himself or herself; thus, it lacks the more morally turpitudinous act of inducing behavior by another.

(Opinion at p. 13.)

Petitioner filed a timely petition for review on February 7, 2010. The Court granted review on April 22, 2010.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 5, 2006, at 2:47 a.m., Deputy Jay Staviski observed a Chevrolet Mailbu that was "smashed into the side of the hill" while he was patrolling Highway 18 in the Running Springs area. (1RT 61-64, 67.) There was no key in the ignition and both of the airbags were deployed. (1RT 64.)

Deputy Staviski conducted an area check to see if anyone was hurt. (1RT 66.) Finding no one, he provided the police dispatcher with the license number of the vehicle and determined that the vehicle was registered to petitioner. (1RT 66, 68.)

Staviski drove to petitioner's residence. (1RT 67.) Petitioner answered the door. (1RT 68.) Staviski observed that she had blood on her face, a small laceration on her nose, and blood on her right hand. (1RT 69.) She was emotional and crying. (1RT 84.) Petitioner told Staviski that she

was actually in the process of trying to get the number to the California Highway Patrol ("CHP"), because she wanted to report that her vehicle had been stolen. (1RT 70.) Staviski asked her how she hurt her hand, and she told him that she cut it at Domino's Pizza, where she works. (1RT 89.)

Petitioner told Staviski that she met a friend, Lisa Barbato, earlier that evening approximately 11:00 p.m. at the Fireside Lounge in Running Springs. At closing time, approximately 2:00 p.m., she and Barbato came outside and petitioner's vehicle was gone. (1RT 73, 77.) Barbato accordingly gave petitioner a ride home to Lake Arrowhead. (1RT 79-80.) On the way there, they saw her car on the side of the road. (1RT 80.) They kept going, and were in the process of calling the CHP when he arrived. (1RT 80.)

Staviski asked petitioner to fill out a stolen vehicle report on CHP Form No. 180. (1RT 71-73; 1CT 172-173.) After Deputy Staviski completed the form, petitioner signed it under penalty of perjury. (1RT 73.) Staviski filed the CHP form in his office. (1CT 90.) The information in the stolen vehicle report was entered into the national stolen vehicle database system, and then immediately tagged to show that the vehicle had been recovered. (1RT 91.)

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. OVERVIEW.

Appellant was charged with filing a false instrument, a felony, based on allegations that she made a false stolen vehicle report to a peace officer.

(1CT 13; 1RT 71-73.) At least four other statutes cover the specific

conduct — a false report to the police — that was at issue. The four statutes all provide that such conduct is a misdemeanor.

Vehicle Code section 10501 provides that:

It is unlawful for any person to make or file a false or fraudulent report of theft of a vehicle required to be registered under this code with any law enforcement agency with intent to deceive.

(Veh.Code, § 10501 [emphasis added].) Vehicle Code section 40000.9 makes a first offense violation of Vehicle Code section 10501 a misdemeanor. (Veh.Code, § 40000.9; see Veh.Code, § 10501, subd. (b).)

Vehicle Code section 20 provides that:

It is unlawful... to knowingly make any false statement or knowingly conceal any material fact in any document filed with the Department of Motor Vehicles or the Department of the California Highway Patrol.

(Veh.Code, § 20.) Vehicle Code section 40000.9 makes the violation of Vehicle Code section 20 a misdemeanor. (Veh.Code, § 40000.9.)

Penal Code section 148.5 provides that:

Every person who reports to any peace officer listed in Section 830.1 or 830.2, or subdivision (a) of Section 830.33... that a felony or misdemeanor has been committed, knowing the report to be false, is guilty of a misdemeanor....

(§ 148.5, subd. (a) [emphasis added].)

Vehicle Code section 31 provides that:

No person shall give, either orally or in writing, information to a peace officer while in the performance of his duties under the provisions of this code when such person knows that the information is false. (Veh.Code, § 31.) Vehicle Code section 40000.1 makes the violation of Vehicle Code section 31 a misdemeanor.<sup>3</sup> (Veh.Code, § 40000.5.)

Instead of charging appellant with any one or even several of these statutes, the prosecution ignored the clear intent of the Legislature that a first-offense, false report of a stolen vehicle to a peace officer is *not* punishable as a felony, and charged appellant with the generic crime of filing a false instrument in a public office. (1CT 13.) The *Williamson* preemption doctrine does not allow this:

The doctrine that a specific statute precludes any prosecution under a general statute is a rule designed to ascertain and carry out legislative intent. The fact that the Legislature has enacted a specific statute covering much the same ground as a more general law is a powerful indication that the Legislature intended the specific provision alone to apply. Indeed, in most instances, an overlap of provisions is determinative of the issue of legislative intent and 'requires us to give effect to the special provision alone in the face of the dual applicability of the general provision ... and the special provision . . . . '

(People v. Jenkins (1980) 28 Cal.3d 494, 505-506, quoting People v. Gilbert (1969) 1 Cal.3d 475, 481.)

Two of the specific statutes listed above — Vehicle Code section 10501 and Vehicle Code section 20 — satisfy all of the criteria for the *Williamson* preemption doctrine to apply in the instant case. In addition, the statutory scheme as a whole — which involves no less than four specific statues, all of which categorize false police reports as misdemeanors — is a further, "powerful indication" that the Legislature did

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioner's reply brief mistakenly characterized Vehicle Code section 31 as an infraction.

not intend to punish the conduct appellant was charged with committing as a felony. Reversal of the first count is accordingly required.

#### II. GOVERNING LAW:

UNDER THE WILLIAMSON PREEMPTION DOCTRINE, A SPECIFIC CRIMINAL STATUTE IS TREATED AS AN EXCEPTION, NOT AN ALTERNATIVE, TO A MORE GENERAL CRIMINAL STATUTE WHERE THE SPECIFIC STATUTE PROVIDES FOR A HEAVIER PENALTY.

The Williamson preemption doctrine is well settled. (People v. Wood (1958) 161 Cal.App.2d 24, 29.) "[W]here the general statute standing alone would include the same matter as the special act, and thus conflict with it, the special act will be considered as an exception to the general statute . . . ." (In re Williamson, supra, 43 Cal.2d at p. 654.) "[T]he special act will be considered as an exception to the general statute whether it was passed before or after such general enactment." (Ibid.)

The *Williamson* preemption rule "serves as an aid to judicial interpretation when two statutes conflict." (*Jenkins, supra,* 28 Cal.3d at p. 505.) "Typically, the issue whether a special criminal statute supplants a more general criminal statute arises where the special statute is a misdemeanor and the prosecution has charged a felony under the general statute instead." (*People v. Woods* (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 327, 333.) "Such prosecutions raise a genuine issue whether the defendant is being subjected to greater punishment than specified by the Legislature, and the basic question for the court to determine is whether the more serious felony provisions would remain available in appropriate cases." (*Id.* at p. 334.) "The fact that the Legislature has enacted a specific statute covering much

the same ground as a more general law is a powerful indication that the Legislature intended the specific provision alone to apply." (*People v. Watson* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 290, 295-296.)

Modern case law recognizes two situations where the *Williamson* preemption rule applies. "Absent contrary legislative intent, 'the *Williamson* preemption rule is applicable (1) when each element of the general statute corresponds to an element on the face of the special statute, or (2) when it appears that a violation of the special statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of the general statute." (*People v. Powers* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 291, 299, quoting *People v. Watson, supra*, 30 Cal.3d at pp. 295-296 (*Watson*).) In addition, this Court held in *Jenkins, supra*, 28 Cal.3d at page 509, that "the usually conclusive rule that special statutes preclude prosecution for a general crime must give way to the clear and incontrovertible evidence of the Legislative intent."

As set forth below, section 115 was repealed *pro tanto* by Vehicle Code section 10501 and Vehicle Code section 20 under both tests with respect to the factual situation in the instant case. In addition, there is no evidence of contrary Legislative intent.

# III. SECTION 115 WAS PREEMPTED BY VEHICLE CODE SECTION 10501 WITH RESPECT TO THE FACTUAL SITUATION PRESENTED BY THE INSTANT CASE.

Section 115 was enacted in 1872. (*People v. Wood*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.2d at p. 27.) Section 115 makes it a felony to knowingly file *any* false instrument in *any* State public office:

Every person who knowingly procures or offers any false or forged instrument to be filed, registered, or recorded in any public office within this State, which instrument, if genuine, might be filed, or registered, or recorded under any law of this State or of the United States, is guilty of [a] felony.

(§ 115.)

Section 10501 of the Vehicle Code was enacted 63 years later in 1935. (Historical and Statutory Notes, Veh.Code, § 10501, West's Online Annotated California Codes, Thomson Reuters, 2010.) It is punishable as a misdemeanor pursuant to Vehicle Code section 40000.9. Like section 115, Vehicle Code section 10501 addresses the filing of false documents in a public office, but it applies in the particular situation where a defendant is accused of filing a false stolen vehicle report with a law enforcement agency:

It is unlawful for any person to make or file a false or fraudulent report of theft of a vehicle required to be registered

under this code with any law enforcement agency with intent to deceive.

(Veh.Code, § 10501.)

As set forth below, an element-by-element comparison of the two statutes demonstrates that Vehicle Code section 10501 is indisputably more specific than section 115. In addition, a violation of Vehicle Code section 10501 will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of section 115.

A. A Comparison Of The Elements Side-By-Side Shows That The General Statute, Section 115, Includes The Same Matter As The Special Act, Vehicle Code Section 10501.

An element-by-element comparison of the two statutes under the test set out in *Watson, supra*, 30 Cal.3d at pages 295-296, demonstrates that each element of section 115 corresponds to an identical or more specific element of Vehicle Code section 10501:

Element	PC 115	VC 10501	
1	Procuring or offering to be filed.	Filing.	
2	A false instrument.	A false stolen vehicle report.	
3	In a public office.	In any law enforcement	
		agency.	
4	Knowingly.	With intent to deceive.	

## 1. <u>Fourth Elements: Vehicle Code Section 10501 Is More Specific Than Section 115.</u>

Starting with the fourth elements, the scienter requirement in Vehicle Code section 10501, "intent to deceive," is a narrower, more specific state of mind than the scienter requirement in section 115, "knowingly." (Compare § 115, Veh.Code, § 10501.) "[T]he element of 'specific intent to defraud' . . . is more rigorous than the concept of 'knowingly" and includes the latter." (*E.g., People v. Booth* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1247, 1253.) This is a basic legal principle that should be beyond dispute. "While it is undoubtedly true that one can 'knowingly' present a false claim without specific intent to defraud . . . [citation], the opposite is not true. One simply cannot *intend to defraud* another by submitting false information "unknowingly." (*Id.* at p. 1254 [emphasis in the original].) The fourth element of Vehicle Code section 10501 accordingly requires a more specific type of scienter than the fourth element of section 115, subdivision (a).

2. <u>Third Elements: Vehicle Code Section 10501 Is More Specific Than Section 115.</u>

Turning to the third elements, Vehicle Code Section 10501 indisputably addresses a more specific situation than the second element in section 115, subdivision (a). Section 115 prohibits filing in a public office in California, whereas Vehicle Code section 10501 prohibits filing in a particular type of public office, namely a law enforcement agency. (Compare § 115, Veh.Code, § 10501.)

3. <u>Second Elements: Vehicle Code Section 10501 Is More Specific Than Section 115.</u>

Under the modern definition of "instrument" as the term is used in section 115, a false stolen vehicle report is a particular type of false instrument. This is because the modern definition of instrument includes almost all documents that are filed by laypersons in a public office and then relied upon by public officials:

A document required or permitted to be filed in a public office is an instrument if (1) the claimed falsity relates to a material fact represented in the instrument; and (2a) the information contained in the document is of such a nature that the government is required or permitted by law, statute, or valid regulation to act in reliance thereon ....

(*Powers, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 297.) A false stolen vehicle report satisfies this definition, because numerous statutes provide for the filing of a stolen vehicle report with various agencies. (*E.g.* Veh.Code, § 10504; Veh.Code, § 2407-2408; Veh.Code, § 10500; § 11108.) It was further undisputed at trial that a stolen vehicle report is a document that the government is permitted by law, statute, or valid regulation to act in reliance upon. (1RT 90-91; Veh.Code §§ 2407-2408, 10500, 10503-10504;

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