SUPPLE AT COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

MELISSA KAY MURPHY,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S180181

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 8 0 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Glefk

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E046742
San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FSB060016

The Honorable Bryan F. Foster, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE PENAL CODE SECTION 115, SUBDIVISION (A), HAS NOT BEEN IMPLICITLY REPEALED BY MORE SPECIFIC STATUTES, APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY CHARGED AND CONVICTED OF THIS OFFENSE

Appellant argues the Court of Appeal incorrectly determined that her conviction for violating Penal Code section 115 was not implicitly preempted by Vehicle Code sections 10501, subdivision (a), and section 20. (AOBM 10-31.) This contention is without merit because the elements of

Vehicle Code sections 10501 and 20 are materially different than those of Penal Code section 115, subdivision (a). Violations of the Vehicle Code provisions will not necessarily or commonly result in violations of the Penal Code provision. Further, appellant's actions are not covered by Vehicle Code section 20. Under the facts of this case, the Vehicle Code statutes are not more specific statutes than the Penal Code provision. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal below correctly concluded that the Vehicle Code provisions did not implicitly preempt Penal Code section 115 under these circumstances and respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the judgment.

The implicit preemption doctrine prohibits "prosecution under a general criminal statute with a greater punishment . . . if the Legislature enacted a specific statute covering the same conduct and intended that the specific statute would apply exclusively to the charged conduct." (People v. Jones (2003) 108 Cal. App. 4th 455, 463.) To determine if the doctrine is applicable, courts must decide whether, "(1) . . . each element of the general statute corresponds to an element on the face of the special statute, or (2) . . . it appears from the statutory context that a violation of the special statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of the general statute." (People v. Watson (1981) 30 Cal.3d 290, 295-296.) Under the first test, "a special statute will not preempt a general statute unless all the requirements of the general one are covered in the special." (People v. Molina (1992) 5 Cal. App. 4th 221, 226-227, citing People v. Ruster (1976) 16 Cal.3d 690.) Under the second test, courts examine the "context in which the statutes are placed." (People v. Jenkins (1980) 28 Cal.3d 494, 502.) "If it appears from the entire context that a violation of the "special" statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of the general statute, the Williamson rule may apply even though the

elements of the general statute are not mirrored on the face of the special statute." (*People v. Jenkins Jenkins*, 28 Cal.3d 494, 502.)

"The rule is not one of constitutional or statutory mandate, but serves as an aid to judicial interpretation when two statutes conflict."

(People v. Walker (2002) 29 Cal.4th 577, 586.)

There is a strong presumption against repeal by implication. The Court of Appeal has recently emphasized this principle:

[F]or purposes of statutory construction, the various pertinent sections of all the codes must be read together and harmonized if possible. [Citations.] However, ... [citation] [W]hen a later statute supersedes or substantially modifies an earlier law but without expressly referring to it, the earlier law is repealed or partially repealed by implication. The courts assume that in enacting a statute the Legislature was aware of existing, related laws and intended to maintain a consistent body of statutes. [Citations.] Thus there is a presumption against repeals by implication; they will occur only where the two acts are so inconsistent that there is no possibility of concurrent operation, or where the later provision gives undebatable evidence of an intent to supersede the earlier; the courts are bound to maintain the integrity of both statutes if they may stand together. [Citations.]

(People v. Vallardes (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 1388, 1393-1394, citing People v. Bustamante (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 693, 699 (emphasis omitted).) Similarly, this Court has stated:

[A]ll presumptions are against a repeal by implication. (Citation) Absent an express declaration of legislative intent, we will find an implied repeal only when no rational basis exists to harmonize the two potentially conflicting statutes, and the statutes are irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that they cannot operate concurrently.

(People v. Acosta (2002) 29 Cal.4th 105, 122.) Like Vallardes, this Court has found that, "courts are bound, if possible, to maintain the integrity of

both statutes if the two may stand together." (Schatz v. Allen Matkins Leck Gamble & Mallory LLP (2009) 45 Cal.4th 557, 573; see also Western Oil & Gas Assn. v. Monterey Bay Unified Air Pollution Control Dist. (1989) 49 Cal.3d 408, 419-420.)

A. Vehicle Code Section 10501 Does Not Implicitly Preempt Penal Code Section 115

Appellant contends that Vehicle Code section 10501 preempts section 115, because the two share identical elements. (AOBM 18.) Because the two statutes are comprised of different elements and criminalize different conduct, this claim fails. The Court of Appeal correctly determined that the two statutes did not evince a legislative intent to repeal section 115 under the circumstances of this case. (Slip Op. at pp. 11-13.)

Vehicle Code section 10501 states:

It is unlawful for any person to make or file a false or fraudulent report of theft of a vehicle required to be registered under this code with any law enforcement agency with intent to deceive.

This crime is a misdemeanor. (Veh. Code, § 40000.9.)

Appellant was charged and convicted of violating Penal Code section 115, subdivision (a), which, provides,

Every person who knowingly procures or offers any false or forged instrument to be filed, registered, or recorded in any public office within this state, which instrument, if genuine, might be filed, registered, or recorded under any law of this state or of the United States, is guilty of a felony.

On its face, Vehicle Code section 10501 does not constitute a more specific criminal statute than Penal Code section 115, subdivision (a) because the two statutes lack an identity of elements. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 108 Cal.App.4th at p. 463.) Looking to the language of the statute, Penal Code section 115, subdivision (a), has three elements: first, the defendant procured or offered a false or forged instrument to be filed,

registered or recorded in a public office, second, the defendant committed that act knowingly; and three, the instrument was one that, if genuine, could be legally filed. (Pen. Code, § 115.) Vehicle Code section 10501 has two elements: first, the defendant made or filed a false report of theft of a vehicle with a law enforcement agency; and second, at the time the defendant did this, she had the intent to deceive. (Veh. Code, § 10501.)

Respondent agrees that the two provisions share some common elements, but an overlap of some elements will not suffice to meet the test established by this Court. As explained above, the implicit preemption doctrine applies where "each element of the general statute corresponds to an element on the face of the special statute, . . ." (People v. Watson, supra, 30 Cal.3d 290, 295-296, emphasis added.) Under this test, "a special statute will not preempt a general statute unless all the requirements of the general one are covered in the special." (People v. Molina, supra, 5 Cal.App.4th 221, 226-227, citing People v. Ruster, supra, 16 Cal.3d 690, emphasis added.)

The most critical distinction between the two provisions is that the Penal Code provision requires the procurement or offering of a false "instrument." The Vehicle Code section has no such requirement; it requires only the making or filing of a false report.

An instrument has been defined as,

a "formal legal document whereby a right is created or confirmed, or a fact recorded; a formal writing of any kind, as an agreement, deed, charter, or record, drawn up and executed in technical form, so as to be of legal validity." (Oxford English Dict. (2d ed. CD-ROM 1994); accord, Merriam-Webster's 10th Collegiate Dict. (2000) p. 605 ["a formal legal document (as a deed, bond, or agreement)].") A legal dictionary likewise defines instrument as "[a] written legal document that defines rights, duties, entitlements, or liabilities, such as a contract, will, promissory note, or share certificate."

(Black's Law Dict. (7th ed.1999) pp. 801-802, cols. 2 & 1.)

(People v. Powers (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 291, 294-295 [Powers].) In People v. Parks (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 883, the court considered whether or not a temporary restraining order constituted an "instrument" within the meaning of Penal Code section 115. There, the court found that a temporary restraining order did meet the definition, noting:

As enacted in 1872, section 115 was one of five sections (§§ 113, 114, 115, 116, and 117) which formed chapter 4 of the Penal Code. Chapter 4 was and is entitled "Forging, Stealing, Mutilating, and Falsifying Judicial and Public Records and Documents." The "ostensible objects to be achieved" were the integrity of "judicial and public records." The "evils to be remedied" clearly included "forging, stealing, mutilating, and falsifying" such records. Whatever else may be meant by the word "instrument," on these facts we find that protection of judicial and public records such as the documents in this case was clearly within the legislative intent of section 115.

(People v. Parks, supra, 7 Cal.App.4th at p. 887.)

In contrast, Vehicle Code section 10501 requires only the filing of "a false or fraudulent report." (Veh. Code, §10501.) This is different from a false instrument in two material ways. First, a false report can be either a written or a verbal report. Merriam Webster's dictionary defines a "report" as "a usually detailed account or statement." (Merriam-Webster Online Dict. (2010) retrieved August 9, 2010, from http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/report.) Similarly, a legal dictionary defines report as "A formal oral or written presentation of facts." (Black's Law Dict. (7th ed. 2000) p. 1044, col. 2.) In the context of false reports of crimes, even the Penal Code contemplates oral reports. Penal Code section 148.5 prohibits the making of a false report of a crime:

Every person who reports to any peace officer... that a felony or misdemeanor has been committed, knowing the report to be false, is guilty of a misdemeanor.

(§ 148.5, see also *People v. Lawson* (1979) 100 Cal.App.3d 60, 67 ["A person who voluntarily supplies information [orally] about a purported crime to a law enforcement officer makes a report, within the meaning of the statute."].)

The requirement of a physical document under section 115 is consistent with the legislative purpose behind the Penal Code provision. "The core purpose of Penal Code section 115 is to protect the integrity and reliability of public records. [Citations.] This purpose is served by an interpretation that prohibits any knowing falsification of public records." (People v. Feinberg (1997) 51 Cal.App.4th 1566, 1579; (Generes v. Justice Court (1980) 106 Cal.App.3d 678, 682; see People v. Baender (1923) 68 Cal.App. 49, 55, 59-60; but see People v. Standley (1932) 126 Cal.App. 739, 745 ["legislative intention in the enactment of the section is clearly one to protect the integrity of our system of recordation of instruments and the vice interdicted is the placing of false or fictitious instruments of record which might have the effect to cloud the record."].)

Given the potential reliance on publicly recorded instruments, and their appearance of authenticity, procuring or offering a false instrument is more egregious criminal conduct than simply making or filing a false report of vehicle theft and thus, the Legislature is justified in punishing it more severely. "The Legislature may properly enact alternative penal provisions 'to punish less despicable conduct less severely, and to punish more despicable conduct more severely." (*People v. Powers, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 299, citing *People v. Baniqued* (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 13, 32.)

Further, not every false written report of vehicle theft is an "instrument," within the meaning of Penal Code section 115. (See *People v. Powers*, *supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 295 ["California courts have shown reluctance to interpret section 115 so broadly that it encompasses any

writing that may be filed in a public office."]; see also *People v. Olf* (1961) 195 Cal.App.2d 97, 110 [*Olf*] [noting "every paper writing is not necessarily an instrument within the settled statutory meaning of the term."]⁴.) For example, a defendant's personal written account of the theft of his or her vehicle may not qualify as an "instrument." Likewise, an oral report would also not satisfy the requirement of an "instrument." Here, the CHP form 180 constitutes an instrument because it was signed under penalty of perjury,⁵ thus making it a "formal legal document whereby a . . . fact [was] recorded" and it qualifies as a "a formal writing of any kind, [such] as . . . [a] record, drawn up and executed in technical form, so as to be of legal validity." (*Powers, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at pp. 294-295.) A false report of a stolen vehicle may or may not be accompanied by such formalities which would lend it the legal validity of an "instrument."

Accordingly, the Penal Code section is actually more specific in this context as it requires the procurement or offering of a physical "instrument." The Vehicle Code provision does not require a physical document, but only a "report" which can be either oral or written and the

⁴ In *Olf*, the court provided the following definition of an instrument: "With reference to writings the term 'instrument' as employed in our statutes has been defined to mean an agreement expressed in writing, signed, and delivered by one person to another, transferring the title to or creating a lien on real property, or giving a right to a debt or duty." (*Olf, supra*, 195 Cal.App.2d at p. 110.) But, courts have since found this definition too rigid, and interpreted the word more broadly. (See *Generes v. Justice Court* (1980) 106 Cal.App.3d 678, 682-684; and see *People v. Powers, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at pp. 294-295.)

⁵ Notably, because appellant signed the CHP form 180 under penalty of perjury, she could have been charged with perjury under Penal Code section 118, also a felony (Pen. Code, § 126). (See *People v. Barrowclough* (1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 50, 55-56.)

report need not meet the definition of an "instrument." Thus, a requirement of the general statute is not reflected in the specific statute.

However, as this Court has noted, the inquiry does not end with a comparison of the elements. Where "it appears from the entire context that a violation of the "special" statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of the "general" statute," the implicit preemption rule may still apply. (People v. Jenkins (1980) 28 Cal.3d 494, 502.) Here, violations of the Vehicle Code section do not necessarily result in violations of the Penal Code section. The facts of this case aptly demonstrate this point. When appellant made her initial statement to the officer that her vehicle had been stolen, she violated the Vehicle Code section. It was not until Deputy Staviski had completed the CHP Form 180 (the false "instrument"), appellant had signed it under penalty of perjury and offered it for filing, that she had committed the violation of the Penal Code provision. Had Deputy Staviski realized appellant was lying about the car being stolen, he would not have completed or filed the CHP Form 180. Under these facts, appellant would still be guilty of the misdemeanor Vehicle Code violation (and Pen. Code, § 148.5, also a misdemeanor), but she would not be guilty of the felony Penal Code violation. Similarly, appellant's friend, Lisa Barbato, violated the Vehicle Code provision, but not the Penal Code section. Although she was not charged, Barbato made a false report of a vehicle theft to the district attorney investigators. At the time, she knew Investigator Smith was not recording her statement, she testified to being frustrated by this fact. (1 RT 162.) This false statement was a violation of Vehicle Code section 10501, but not a violation of Penal Code section 115, subdivision (a), as Barbato never knowingly procured or offered a false instrument for filing.

Anytime a defendant makes a false report of vehicle theft, but the agency discovers it is fraudulent prior to completing a false instrument, the

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